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A Note on 18th-Century Writing






Writers of the 18th century were wonderfully idiosyncratic in things we now consider standard, like spelling, capitalization, and punctuation. To reveal something of an author’s personality and education as well as the circumstances of composition, quoted materials reproduce the originals exactly—strange spellings and all—with only a few silent corrections for clarity.












Introduction






On a cold morning in March 1783, the officers of the Continental Army read a letter that was circulating through their cantonment along the Hudson River. The officers considered the letter’s call to do something soldiers weren’t supposed to do: meet to discuss how to send an ultimatum to the civilian authorities in Congress.


Some 10,000 soldiers, the bulk of the Continental Army, stood duty in the region known as the Hudson Highlands, a strategically vital area overlooking the spot where the river narrowed. Most of the men lived in log huts constructed in the farmland to the west of New Windsor, nestled among places with such appealing names as Snake Hill and Murderers Creek. A dozen miles south, a garrison guarded the fort at West Point, while other units were scattered another dozen miles beyond at Stony Point and Verplanck’s Point. The commander in chief, General George Washington, was headquartered in a Dutch-style stone house along the river in Newburgh, two miles north from the main body of his men. The American victory at Yorktown in October 1781 had bloodied the enemy and driven the British ministry to the bargaining table, but British forces in North America remained formidable, above all in New York City. If the British decided to renew the war and resurrect their old strategy of dividing the colonies along the Hudson, the American army was nearby.1


The Highlands was also a place of sylvan solitude, conducive to contemplating life, and as the days slipped by and the drudgery of winter quarters dragged on for the eighth time in the war, the officers’ thoughts turned to all they had sacrificed and the scant rewards they had enjoyed for it.


For eight years, the army was paid sporadically, and when it was, compensation was delivered in a mess of notes, certificates, and cash that had so depreciated that it was nearly worthless. In the wake of mass resignations and the treachery of Benedict Arnold in 1780, the officers had forced Congress to promise them pensions, but the treasury was empty—worse than empty: the nation was deeply in debt and the only way out, new taxes, was deeply unpopular.


When the officers looked outside their ranks, they saw greedy civilians snug by their firesides. Civilian government employees were paid reliably, while soldiers hunkered down in the snow. The officers believed in the cause. They believed in independence. They believed in republican government and creating the world anew. But they also saw themselves as gentlemen, and gentlemen needed to live a certain lifestyle, surrounded by certain fine things, to display their status. For the men with families, serving during the prime of life had taken away their chance to earn a genteel living and impoverished those who depended on them. For younger men, devotion to the army had delayed family formation and the entrance into full adulthood. An officer’s title might help their prospects, but if a captain, major, or colonel proved penniless who would want him?2


The officers felt ignored and even suspected. Many civilians looked askance at them—and felt justified in their misgivings. The army were liberators, yes, but the republican ideology of the 18th-century Anglo-American world taught that a professional army was a favorite tool of the tyrant. Pensions were another. Pensions preferred some men to others, and made them dependent on government largesse taken by taxing the virtuous. Marry the two, and for many Americans, alarm bells sounded.


None of the officers’ complaints were new. Earlier in the revolution, the urgency of the war had overcome the worst of the mutual suspicions harbored by soldiers and citizens. But as 1782 turned to 1783, treaty negotiations, long stalled by British domestic politics and the entanglements of the Franco-American alliance, moved forward. It was only a matter of time before peace was brokered and the people decided to break up the army, with or without a final financial settlement.


Sensing time was not on their side, in December 1782 the officers sent a delegation to Philadelphia with a memorial to Congress documenting their hardships and asking for a speedy resolution to their claims for justice. As the delegation lobbied Congress in January and February 1783, they sent news back to the army with a taste of encouragement—most congressmen were sympathetic to the army’s plight—mixed with a heaping lump of delays, obfuscations, and the excuses that had long embittered Congress’s relationship with the army.


By March, patience wore thin. When the anonymous letter appeared, the officers passed it around, distracted from the morning routine by its flashing rhetoric. The letter’s author, whoever he might be, knifed into each of the officers’ sore points.


Announcing himself “a fellow soldier whose interests and affections bind him strongly to you,” the anonymous author declared himself disabused of his faith in Congress. Nothing would come from their memorial. It was naïve to expect otherwise. He saluted his fellow officers as the deliverers of the republic. “Yes, my friends, that suffering Courage of yours, was active once, it has conducted the United States of America, thro’ a doubtfull and a bloody war,” he wrote. “It has placed her in the Chair of Independency.” But to what end? For the benefit of the country and its people? “Or is it rather a Country that tramples upon your rights, disdains your Cries—& insults your distresses?”3


Though unknown at the time, the letter was the work of Major John Armstrong, Jr., a twenty-four-year-old aide-de-camp to General Horatio Gates, a one-time rival to Washington who’d once hoped to parlay his victory at the Battle of Saratoga into overall command of the war. Armstrong was one of several young staff officers living at a New Windsor house that served as Gates’s headquarters, and together with his friends, he composed the letter on the night of March 9 and prepared copies for distribution.4


Warming to his theme, Armstrong raised a vital question: what should the officers do? Send a new message to Congress, he answered, no longer asking but demanding, and making clear the consequences of more delays. “Carry your appeal from the Justice to the fears of government,” he implored. “Change the Milk & Water stile of your last Memorial—assume a bolder Tone, decent, but lively, spirited, and determined.” By meeting the following day, they could choose “two or three Men, who can feel as well as write” to tell their civilian leaders that this was their last chance, that “the slightest mark of indignity from Congress now, must operate like the Grave, and part you forever.” Armstrong concluded by reminding the officers of their options. If peace came, they didn’t have to comply. They could refuse to disband. If the war continued, they didn’t have to fight. They could leave the country to fend for itself.5


When news of the letter reached General Washington in Newburgh, he projected calm firmness. In the next day’s general orders, he forbade the officers from meeting that day. “His duty as well as the reputation and true interests of the Army requires his disapprobation of such disorderly proceedings,” the orders read. Perceiving that clamping down too hard might cause a worse outburst, the general diffused the pressure by rescheduling the meeting. Washington set the time and place—“12 o’clock on Saturday next at the Newbuilding,” a newly constructed social and meeting hall in New Windsor often styled “The Temple.” Washington also set the agenda. “After mature deliberation,” he directed, “they will devise what further measures ought to be adopted as most rational and best calculated to attain the just and important object in view,” meaning Congress’s handling of their grievances, and “report the result of the Deliberations to the Commander in Chief,” indicating he would not attend.6


At headquarters, surrounded by his staff, or “military family” as he liked to call them, Washington was vexed by the anonymous letter. He knew the mood in camp could be surly because he knew the privations that were part of life in the Continental Army. He knew that men marched in worn out shoes and in threadbare clothes, hardly cutting the elegant figure he demanded. He knew that the states, the locus of power in the nation, put their own interests first and that a hamstrung Congress could not equip the army efficiently. He knew that cunning suppliers sent rancid beef and foul whiskey and charged sky-high prices because inflation was through the roof and the nation’s credit had cratered long before. By any measure, Washington was a wealthy man, but even he felt the pressures of a thin wallet, his farms never meeting expectations in his absence. He ate better than others and dressed better than others, but, fatigued by constant paperwork and bearing the burden of ultimate command, he knew the physical, mental, and emotional toll taken by the war.


But he never thought the army was in crisis until now.7


Washington was not at his best in the heat of the moment. On the battlefield, he could be hesitant when boldness was needed, and impulsive when the occasion called for restraint. Even in his larger conduct of the war, Washington fixated on some objectives—he was obsessed with attacking New York City—only to be dissuaded by his officers and allies.


Washington’s true talents as a general were his organizational abilities, relentless attention to detail in administration, and deft sense of the war’s politics, skills he learned as a Virginia gentleman planter-politician. Washington’s true genius as commander in chief of the Continental Army in the American Revolution lay in his rock-solid commitment to the ideals of the cause, his unwavering deference to civilian authority, and his unshakeable belief that the Revolution would succeed. He was the right man, in the right place, at the right time, for the kind of war that the Americans fought.8


As the week wore on and Washington kept up the appearance of boring camp life, he worked to confront the officers’ anger head-on. Consulting his staff and trusted advisers, Washington prepared to take the unhappy officers by surprise. He would address them as a group—the first time he would do so, at that late date in the war. His words, carefully chosen, would call them back from the precipice.9


As it turned out, words weren’t enough.
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The events of that week in March 1783 marked the culmination of what is often called the Newburgh Conspiracy, a mysterious episode in which nationalist-minded leaders in Philadelphia such as Superintendent of Finance Robert Morris, his assistant (but not relative) Gouverneur Morris, Congressman Alexander Hamilton, and others supposedly combined with disgruntled officers led by General Gates to pressure Congress and the states to approve new taxes and strengthen the central government—and maybe even replace Washington in command. The label “conspiracy” poses a problem, however. It prejudges the event’s core question: Was there really a plot between Philadelphia nationalists and angry officers to achieve their political goals with the threat—or reality—of violence?


People in the 18th century loved conspiracy thinking; for them it was inconceivable that events unfolded by anything other than design. People today also love conspiracy theories, with varying degrees of devotion. They can be a fun source of debate, or a debilitating pathology for individuals and whole societies. My research has made me skeptical that a true conspiracy unfolded at Newburgh, and the following pages will explain why. I ask readers to set aside their assumptions about conspiracy thinking: join me in the 18th century and look with fresh eyes at how the American Revolution really ended.


As we’ll see, regardless of whether it was a conspiracy, the events at Newburgh represented a pivotal moment at the end of the American Revolution that exposed the tensions between the states and the central government and between the army and civilians that had simmered throughout the war. In the two years from the October 1781 victory at Yorktown, often thought to have ended the war, and the official announcement in America of the Treaty of Paris in November 1783, the prospect of peace actually made the tensions among Americans worse as the logic for hanging together—fighting the war so they would not all hang separately as rebels—dissipated and the nation was left to decide what the Revolution was for. It was a crisis of peace, a time when the Revolution still might have failed, and the crisis at Newburgh was an hour of grave danger.
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ONE



The Road from Yorktown





On October 19, 1781, the American and French armies lined up along the road outside Yorktown, Virginia, and prepared for a soldier’s most gratifying duty: witnessing the surrender of the enemy.1


The Americans stood on the left side of the road, the regulars mostly arrayed in blue, the Virginia and Maryland militia behind them in drab hunting shirts. Across the road the French army formed up, their white coats accented by red, white, and green facings. A band played as they paraded into place, and the jingle of a tambourine, an unusual instrument for a military ensemble, produced “a most enchanting effect.”2


Several thousand spectators—men, women, and children—turned out to witness the surrender on that warm midautumn afternoon. They watched from fine carriages and rough wagons, from horseback and on foot. Many were locals, while others, including a group of Oneida Indians from New York, had traveled from far away to share the moment. Camp followers and sutlers, women and men who cooked and cleaned for the troops and hawked them goods, watched alongside planters who came to reclaim property—horses and enslaved people—that the British had seized as they raided across Virginia earlier in the year.3


Around two o’clock the British army, in brilliant red, tramped out of Yorktown, joined by the blue-clad Hessians, the German mercenaries rented early in the war to subdue the colonists. Together they were led by Brigadier General Charles O’Hara, a beefy Irishman known for his wit and charm. The British commander, General Charles, Earl Cornwallis, was ill, probably with an acute case of humiliation, but possibly he had a fever. His absence disappointed Americans eager to see the haughty British general get his comeuppance.4


As the defeated army advanced, a drummer beat a melancholy English march. Tradition says it was “The World Turn’d Upside Down,” but there’s no evidence such a name was attached to any tune at the time. Riding forward, O’Hara approached the allied commanders. Assuming the French army was preeminent, he proceeded to General Jean-Baptiste Donatien de Vimeur, Comte de Rochambeau. General Rochambeau directed O’Hara to the man next to him, the commander in chief, General George Washington. Sitting atop his charger, Washington wore a blue coat with buff facing, a buff waistcoat and matching breeches, and black leather boots. A tricorn hat covered a head of gray hair; the stress of war had made powder unnecessary for the forty-nine-year-old.5


O’Hara’s mistake must have been deliberate, because George Washington emanated command on and off the battlefield. He was tall and powerfully built, athletic but also graceful. Standing about six feet tall, though some sources said six-foot-two or -three, he tipped the scales at 210 pounds. Famous for his horsemanship and feats of strength, Washington lit up the dance floor with his light footwork and easy manners. But it wasn’t Washington’s physique alone that fixed the gaze of those who saw him. Other men were as tall or taller, and in an age of strenuous farm labor and hard military living, Washington wasn’t alone in his strapping musculature. Likewise, dancing was a vital skill for the genteel, and dancing lessons were de rigueur for the elite and those who aspired to fit in among them.6


There was something special about Washington, though, something ineffable that seized the attention of others. His superb military bearing, his devotion to his appearance and fashion, his iron self-control forged through lifelong battle against his raging passions all radiated an image of heroism perfectly suited to the age. Washington exuded the ultimate virtue of 18th-century leadership: the ability to deny the self for the good of the country.7


Once O’Hara found the right man, he removed his hat and offered Cornwallis’s apologies. Washington, punctilious about protocol, indicated that General Benjamin Lincoln, equal in rank to O’Hara, would then conduct the ceremony. Lincoln guided the surrendering army to a large meadow for the grounding of arms. Regiment by regiment, they entered the field, and man by man they tossed away their muskets, swords, and cartridge boxes. After discarding their weapons, the British and Hessian soldiers, now prisoners of war, marched back to Yorktown, ending the ceremony. The American victory was complete.8


That evening, the general officers of the American and French armies marked their triumph with what looks to modern eyes like a bizarre ritual: they dined with the British officers. Having surrendered, the British officers were now gentlemen in distress and other gentlemen were honor bound to relieve their anguish. A gentleman didn’t notice unpleasant things like the fact that the hosts caused their guests suffering. General O’Hara, in fine spirits, regaled his enemies as if old friends.9


Washington took a break from planning the army’s next moves to enjoy an evening dining with fellow gentlemen. He was under no illusion that the surrender would end the war, however. The British had some 30,000 men under arms in North America. They occupied New York City; Charleston, South Carolina; Savannah, Georgia; Wilmington, North Carolina; and some forts in the West; while garrisons stood duty at Halifax, Canada, and St. Augustine, East Florida. The Royal Navy remained formidable, and the war had spilled into the West Indies, the Mediterranean, and even India. Britain wasn’t leaving America anytime soon.10


Whether the United States could sustain the war was another question, which was still in doubt despite the victory. The Franco-American conquest of Yorktown resulted from an astonishing alignment of the military stars. Cornwallis stationed his army in a coastal tobacco port confident he’d never be trapped. The French navy moved north from the Caribbean to escape the hurricane season at precisely the right moment to prove Cornwallis wrong. The American and French armies marched from New York’s Hudson Valley to Virginia with remarkable celerity, covering more than 400 miles in a month, even though, for the Americans, supplies were scanty and some soldiers verged on mutiny because pay was so scarce. Only a timely French loan—doled out to the Continentals from barrels of silver coins—kept them marching. From beginning to end, the campaign was a miracle, its financing the most miraculous of all.11
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In the weeks after Yorktown, General Washington supervised the army packing up and boarding ships to carry them across the Chesapeake on their way north to winter quarters in the Hudson Highlands. Washington planned to ride overland with his aides so he could spend a few days at his beloved Mount Vernon and then proceed to Philadelphia to wait on Congress, which received Washington’s official notice of the British surrender on October 24. A celebration ensued in Philadelphia, kicking off at noon with cannon fire, continuing with a solemn procession of dignitaries to hear a sermon of thanksgiving, and finishing at night with an illumination, as citywide, patriots placed candles in their windows to light up the dark with American military pride. Patriot mobs, well lubricated by whiskey and British tears, smashed Loyalists’ darkened windows. Typical Philadelphia.12


On November 5, Washington left Yorktown, and after thirty miles he entered Eltham, Virginia, where Jack Custis, Martha Washington’s last surviving child from her first marriage, was recovering from camp fever, a form of typhus he had contracted while visiting the siege and serving as a civilian aid. Custis, twenty-six, had been a feckless boy and was still sophomoric, though he was the father of four surviving children. Despite fever, cough, and nausea, he insisted on staying at Yorktown to witness the surrender. When Washington arrived in Eltham, Martha and Jack’s wife, Eleanor, were already there and Jack was in his last hour. Martha was inconsolable. She had outlived all of her children. George, though often at odds with Jack, felt the loss as well. He was, according to one observer, “uncommonly affected by his death.”13


Six days later, Washington departed for Mount Vernon. He stopped in Fredericksburg to see his often-difficult mother, Mary Ball Washington, who, to the general’s relief, wasn’t at home, and then attended a party for French and American officers given by the city. He reached his Potomac mansion on November 13 and passed a week receiving congratulatory visitors and inspecting his farms.14


On November 20, Washington hit the road with Martha and his aides, and after events in Alexandria, Annapolis, and Baltimore, he entered Philadelphia on the afternoon of November 26 as more celebrations broke out. Washington took up residence in a townhouse on Third Street between Walnut and Spruce, owned by the lawyer Benjamin Chew. The Washingtons occupied the front half, while the Spanish ambassador lived in the back. George and Martha knew the neighborhood. While visiting the city in January 1779, they had marked their twentieth anniversary at a ball next door, at the home of Samuel and Elizabeth Willing Powel.15


After two days of rest, Washington appeared before Congress. Meeting in the Assembly Room on the first floor of the Pennsylvania Statehouse (now Independence Hall), Congress was far from the august body of patriotic lore. True, it did important things like sign the Declaration of Independence and create a government from scratch during a war, but serving in Congress was a burden, not an honor. Delegates were chosen by their states, and voting in session was done by state, with each state receiving one vote. There was no standard size for a delegation, but each state needed at least two members present for its vote to count. Rounding up two men at the same time was a challenge, and the total size of the body fluctuated between twenty and forty, depending on who attended. Georgia, the most distant state and occupied by the British since 1778, was seldom represented at all. Many delegates envied the Georgians. They hated serving in Philadelphia and tried to get home as soon as possible to their state legislatures, where the real action was.


At one o’clock, the general was ready to make his entrance. He was escorted inside to a room familiar to him from his own time in the Second Continental Congress, when he received his commission as commander in chief. The Assembly Room is small, lacking the grandeur of its reputation as the birthplace of American liberty. But as a conference room for a working group of a couple dozen men, it fulfilled its purpose. The delegates sat in Windsor chairs at tables covered in green baize cloth and arranged in a semicircle before the president’s table, which was raised slightly from the floor. The president, actually more of a presider, sat in the “rising sun” chair, later made famous at the Constitutional Convention when Benjamin Franklin made its half-hidden sun decoration an allegory for the new nation’s bright future.16


Once inside, Washington stood as the congressmen remained seated, a silent affirmation of their civilian supremacy over the military. President John Hanson, of Maryland, spoke first. “Sir,” he said, “Congress, at all times happy in seeing your Excellency, feel particular pleasure in your presence at this time, after the glorious success of the allied arms in Virginia.” Hanson continued by promising to press the states for more resources for the army. He also asked Washington to stay in town to assist a committee on army affairs and invited him to “enjoy a respite from the fatigues of war.”17


Washington’s reply was brief, dignified, and politically astute. “Mr. President,” he began, “I feel very sensibly the favorable declaration of Congress expressed by your Excellency.” No one yet knew Washington as “Mr. President,” but he was already famous as “your Excellency,” and his use of the terms demonstrated his grasp of the ritual. He stood there to signal his respect for civilian authority. Washington agreed to remain in Philadelphia, and he liked the sound of pressing the states. “It is with peculiar pleasure I hear that it is the fixed purpose of Congress to exhort the states to the most vigorous and timely exertions,” he announced. “A compliance on their parts will, I persuade myself, be productive of the most happy consequences.” With that, Washington departed, and Congress went back to hearing committee reports.18


Washington’s speech to Congress emphasized the message he imparted to everyone who wrote to congratulate him on the army’s accomplishment: the war wasn’t over yet and if they expected to win, people needed to support the army to the fullest. “I thank you for your kind Congratulations on the Capitulation of Cornwallis,” he wrote to a former aide. “It is an interesting event and may be productive of much good if properly improved, but if it should be the means of relaxation and sink us into supineness & security it had better not have happened.” He wrote the same to an Alexandria official and to a Maryland official, to fellow generals and retiring officers, to congressmen, and to state governors. The message was the same: vigor would produce ultimate victory; relaxation would prolong the war. He believed, he said, in the old Roman maxim “that the only certain way to obtain Peace is to be prepared for War.”19


Washington was right to worry. At the same time he arrived in Philadelphia, the news of the British defeat at Yorktown was hitting London. Lord George Germain, secretary of state for American affairs, heard the news first. He told the prime minister, Frederick North, the Lord North, whose stomach turned. Devastated, North walked the floor of his Downing Street home. He stopped suddenly, threw up his hands, and shouted “Oh God! It is all over!” He then continued pacing, saying again and again “Oh God! It is all over!”20


In the long run North was right, but in the moment, King George III expected to keep fighting. The news of Cornwallis’s defeat arrived on the eve of the king’s annual speech to open Parliament. Surely, advisers said, the part where he predicted ultimate success in America would have to be rewritten. Why, the king wondered. The rebellion must be suppressed.21
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Back in America, Washington enjoyed the uncommon quiet of the winter season. He went foxhunting, and he attended dinners and passed evenings at the theater with Martha. Washington was always the center of attention. On one occasion, the Washingtons were guests of the French ambassador for the premier of an oratorio, The Temple of Minerva. Written by composer (and Declaration of Independence signer) Francis Hopkinson, the piece was an allegory of the Franco-American alliance and ended with the grandiose lyrics:


Now the dreadful conflict’s o’er,


Now the cannons cease to roar,


Spread the joyful tidings round.


He comes, he comes, with conquest crown’d.


Hail, Columbia’s godlike son!


Hail, the glorious Washington!


If Washington wasn’t blushing—“godlike son!”—he was furious. This was the complacency he was warning everyone against.22


In between enduring encomiums, Washington followed political affairs in Congress and in the states, because if the army was headed back to the field in the spring, Congress and the states had to provide the money and the manpower. Though without an official role in the nation’s governance, Washington’s expertise and prestige couldn’t be ignored, and in December he began attending weekly gatherings of the heads of the government’s executive departments. Held every Monday night at six o’clock, the meetings were the idea of Robert Morris, the superintendent of finance. Responsible for every area of government touched by money, which is to say all areas, Morris was the most powerful man in Philadelphia.


Known as “the financier,” Morris was born in Liverpool, England, in 1734, the son of a tobacco factor who left his family for Maryland’s Eastern Shore when Robert was a boy. Robert joined his father in Maryland at the age of thirteen, learned the rudiments of math and Latin, and was apprenticed to a Philadelphia merchant named Charles Willing. Morris graduated from sweeping floors to copying correspondence and mastered the business along the way. At sixteen, Morris’s father died (a victim of celebratory cannon fire from one of his own ships returning from a successful voyage) and left his son a £2,500 inheritance. A few years later, Willing also died, passing along the business to his son Thomas, who was by then close friends with Morris. Forming Willing Morris & Company, the two amassed a fortune trading throughout the Atlantic, pushed by Morris’s appetite for risk. In 1769, Morris married Mary White, called Molly, the daughter of a wealthy English-born lawyer. He was thirty-five, she was nineteen.23


As the 1770s began and tensions with Britain flared, Morris was an affluent merchant with a young and soon-to-be growing family. Though he might have preferred to concentrate on business, Morris entered politics and served in the Continental Congress (1775–1778), where he lent his commercial expertise to buying supplies in Europe through the Committee of Secret Correspondence, and in the Pennsylvania legislature (1778–1781). Morris made enemies during his Secret Committee days by mingling his private business with public transactions, in part to conceal arms shipments from Europe, in part because his personal credit was needed to make deals, and in part to keep up his network of contacts and make money. Conducting private and public business together, Morris was dogged by charges that he lined his own pockets with the nation’s money.24


Forty-seven in 1781, Morris was six feet tall and thick around the middle. A 1782 portrait shows Morris seated and filling every inch of an armchair while wearing a blue suit over a bulging blue waistcoat. He looks serious, stern, no nonsense. In person, however, Morris is outgoing and sociable. He and Molly loved to entertain at home, and they were fixtures of the Philadelphia ball scene.25


Morris was accompanied to the Monday night meetings by his personal assistant in the Finance Office, Gouverneur Morris, a former Congressional delegate from New York. Gouverneur, twenty-nine, was born to an old Dutch family and raised on a sprawling Long Island estate called Morrisania. He graduated from King’s College (Columbia) and joined the bar as relations with Britain deteriorated and divided his family. Gouverneur Morris entered politics, supported a middle position in the New York Provincial Assembly as independence was declared, and represented the state in Philadelphia from 1777 to 1779. Six feet tall and trim, Morris was a charmer, full of bonhomie, despite suffering severe bodily disfigurement on two occasions: a scalding at age fourteen that left his right arm and side scarred and a 1780 carriage accident that broke his left ankle, leading to an amputation below the knee. Morris wore a peg ever after. The injuries did not detract—and perhaps even enhanced—Morris’s reputation as what the 18th century called a “rake,” an incorrigible ladies’ man. (A story that Morris broke his ankle leaping from a married woman’s second-story window is, alas, too good to be true.)26


Gouverneur caught the elder Morris’s eye when he came to Congress in 1778. At first sight, Robert called him a man of “first rate abilities,” but also “a little too whimsical.” Robert learned that he was right about the first, wrong about the second. At the Finance Office, the two made a dynamic pair. Gouverneur was intellectual but pragmatic, especially in politics, and a hard worker, going from four in the morning until eight at night; Robert was a man of business but as innovative as any philosopher and prone to keep similar hours. Together, they strategized, brainstormed, and game-planned ways to address the nation’s crisis, churning out letters and reports to explain, defend, and advocate their rescue measures. “Gouverneur and myself are great Slaves,” Robert told a friend in Europe. “Our confinement is constant, our attention unceasing and my Anxiety great, but our Spirits carry us through.”27


Three other men rounded out the Monday evening club. Robert Livingston, a New York lawyer and member of the powerful Livingston clan, represented the Foreign Affairs department, while Benjamin Lincoln, a Massachusetts general, attended as secretary at war. To make sure Congress didn’t suspect any shenanigans, Charles Thomson, the body’s secretary, tagged along. The final department, Marine Affairs, was also led by Robert Morris, and the group met at the Marine offices on Front Street. No one at the time called it a cabinet, and the government wasn’t set up that way—the departments reported to Congress and there was no chief executive. Still, the group was a cabinet in embryo with Robert Morris as its leader.


Over wine, the men most often discussed the condition of the nation’s finances and what they could do to improve them. The answers: “terrible” and “not much.” By 1781, the nation’s fiscal health was fading fast, assailed by four comorbid maladies: the war’s enormous cost, inflation, debt, and an inability to tax.28


The cost of fighting the war beggared all expectations. Consider the food bill. At the start of the war, Congress decreed that each man should receive the following daily ration:


1 pound of beef, ¾ pounds of pork, or 1 pound of salted fish


1 pound of bread or flour


1 pint of milk


1 quart of spruce beer or cider


Weekly, they were to also receive:


3 pints of peas, beans, or “vegitables equivalent”


1 half pint of rice or cornmeal


Between Lexington and Concord (April 19, 1775) and the surrender at Yorktown (October 19, 1781), there were 2,376 days. That means an army of 10,000 would have consumed approximately 50,000 cows, 123,000 pigs, 3 million gallon jugs of milk, and 63 million bottles of beer.29


Rations rarely materialized as promised, however. Soldiers’ complaints about their poor food and shelter flew as thick as a musket volley. Washington nagged Congress on their behalf. More than once he warned that if they didn’t get more beef or bread, the army would disappear. Still, the Continentals ate and drank a staggering amount. During the Valley Forge winter of 1777 to 1778, when the army was starving, the men consumed over 2 million pounds of beef, more than 2 million pounds of flour, and almost 16,000 gallons of rum and whiskey (that’s more than 1.3 million shots).30


To carry out its vast buying needs, Congress created its own currency, the Continental dollar. Printed in denominations ranging from one dollar to thirty dollars and designed by Benjamin Franklin, the notes were physically small, measuring 2¾ inches by 3¾ inches (about the size of a modern one dollar bill if, looking at the front, you fold the left side over to the last “A” in “The United States of America”). Franklin emblazoned the notes with patriotic imagery, such as a four dollar note that featured a wild boar, an animal that, like America, minded its business unless provoked into ferocious self-defense.31


Congress emitted $2 million in June 1775, followed by another $1 million in July, and $3 million more by the end of the year—six months before declaring independence. As expenses mounted, Congress printed more, and more, and more. At first, new issues came every month, then every two weeks, then every week. Millions of dollars churned off the presses, burly printers straining to keep up with the pace. By fall 1779, Congress gave up, and authorized no new Continentals after November 29, 1779. All told, Congress printed $199,990,000 worth of paper currency. Values plummeted with each new sheet. The wild boar was helpless to fight off the depreciation. In January 1777, $1.25 in paper equaled $1 in specie. By April 1781, it took $167.50 in paper to get $1 of specie, a 13,300 percent increase. The Continental dollar, now a waste of perfectly good blank paper, stopped circulating the next month.32


Congress’s love of paper money wasn’t as reckless as it sounds. Paper money in the 18th century worked differently than it does today, when the US dollar is a fiat currency sustained by faith in the US government and the certainty that if you accept a dollar as payment today, someone else will accept it from you as payment tomorrow. In colonial times, paper money was more like a security. It was backed by something of value, such as specie, land, or taxes, and operated as a kind of loan to the government. Some currency paid interest.


In its simplest form, paper currency worked like this: governments printed paper money and used it to pay for goods and services. The recipients could then generally exchange the paper for specie or use it to pay taxes, which was useful because taxes otherwise had to be paid in hard coin. The paper currency thus returned to the issuing government. The notes would then be taken out of circulation—or “retired”—often by public burning. If the notes were not used for taxes, they could pass from hand to hand as a media of exchange, promoting commerce. Though governments were always tempted to issue just a few pounds more, taxes and public burning forced them not to overdo it.33


What went wrong with financing the Revolution was partly the enormous cost of the war (see above) and partly the inability of any government to collect sufficient taxes (see below). But another aspect of the problem lay directly with Congress and its mismanagement of retiring Continental dollars. When first issuing the currency, Congress planned to assign each state an amount it was responsible to collect through taxes of its choice and turn the Continental dollars over to Congress for burning. Congress, however, kept changing the redemption schedule and requirements and even instituted ex post facto laws that went back in time to affect earlier emissions, so the states did not know how much they were supposed to collect and whether Congress would change the amount later anyway.34


Congress was responsible for inflation in one additional way. Inflation worked as a hidden tax that extracted resources from citizens when the government had no power to tax. Simply for the cost of paper and ink and the labor of a printer, Congress bought the army supplies. As depreciation kicked in, people who sold their goods lost the paper value they’d received in exchange. Congress pocketed the difference for the war effort as surely as if it had been transferred by force.35


Even with all the paper money floating around the country like an unwanted ticker tape parade, Congress was still far short of meeting its expenses, and it looked for other sources of funds, including loans both foreign and domestic. The result: a canyon of debt. The problem started small. Early in the war France and Spain aided the United States with secret loans of military supplies funneled across the Atlantic. After allying with the United States, France loaned money openly, and the Spanish crown and Dutch investors chipped in as well, bringing total assistance to some $3 million in specie. Following the collapse of the Continental dollar, Congress became ever more dependent on foreign loans.36


Congress also borrowed money from Americans in the form of bonds called loan office certificates. Congress set up offices in each state to sell the bonds, which when first issued in 1776, promised 4 percent interest and maturity in three years. The bonds sold poorly, so a few months later Congress upped the return to 6 percent with no maturity date. Requiring a minimum investment of $200, the certificates were an investment for the wealthy. The certificates could also be profitable, at least if purchased early when Congress paid interest in bills of exchange secured by a French loan, meaning the payments were almost as good as gold and protected from depreciation. The owners of loan office certificates formed an important interest group as the war ground on. Collectively, they were known as “public creditors” or “civil creditors,” and they had loud voices, loud enough to command action in Congress and state legislatures.37


A second type of domestic loan wasn’t much of a loan at all. It was an IOU, called a “certificate of indebtedness,” offered to compensate owners of property seized for use by the army. The practice of expropriating private property for military use was called “impressment,” just like the naval system of forcing sailors into service. Though supposedly an emergency measure, impressment was widely practiced. Before 1781, Congress issued certificates with a face value of $95 million. Backed by nothing but Congress’s vague promises of future payment, the certificates made for a poor investment and rapidly lost value.38


To deal with the challenge of financing a war, a mature fiscal-military state like Great Britain would have raised revenue through taxes. But the United States was not mature and more to the point, the conflict was rooted in an objection to British tax policies. Citizens of the new republic understandably didn’t want Congress to tax them and bring on the tyranny they believed would inevitably follow.


Congress itself had no ability to tax on its own. None. No money went straight from any American to Congress for its use. Instead, the body made requisitions on the states, with the total amount divvied up by population as an approximation for wealth and ability to pay. States rarely provided the requested amounts, however. As of September 1, 1779, for example, the states had delivered only about $13 million in paper money value when nearly $200 million in Continentals had already been issued.39


The states weren’t deadbeats as it might appear. Their fiscal health was no better than the nation’s. They also paid to fight the war. They issued at least as much paper currency as Congress did. They impressed private property with IOUs. To help the cause, states raised taxes above normal levels, and they accepted depreciated Continentals at more than their value. Each state felt aggrieved when Congress sent down its requisition each year, and each state had its reasons for protesting that its share was too much. Often, they had a point, especially those states occupied by the British or which saw their productive capacity wasted by battle. Whatever the reason, however, the result was the same: Congress had too much money going out and not enough coming in; the army suffered and the war effort faltered.40
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As bad as fiscal conditions were in the winter of 1781 to 1782, they could have been worse, because throughout the war Congress’s finances were a lot worse—until Robert Morris took office as the financier the previous spring. The position of superintendent of finance was created in February 1781 as part of Congress’s effort to streamline its executive functions. Congress began the war by trying to handle everything itself through committees, then tried to lighten its burden by employing administrative boards compromised of both congressmen and outside officials. Finally, Congress handed off daily administration to departments headed by civilians who were not members of Congress.41


Over the summer of 1781, Morris developed an extensive fiscal program with several interlocking parts that moved toward remedying what Morris saw as the nation’s central problem: the lack of public credit. For Morris, credit was more than a financial issue, since it said something vital about the stability of the nation, its people and government and tied the various states and their varied people together in one nation capable of surviving and thriving in a world of monarchies hostile to a new republic.42


Some of Morris’s credit-building methods are easily recognizable. He rationalized the operation of his office, reduced expenses, and sought additional revenue. Morris’s principle method, however, seems strange today. He planned to use private credit, often his own, to substitute for public credit until the nation’s finances were resuscitated and the government could function on its own.


Morris did not take office officially until June 27, as he kept his seat in the Pennsylvania legislature to help fight a new state paper currency emission. He failed, and so did the emission, which predictably sunk in value. In the meantime, Morris hit the cobblestone streets running. In late May, he proposed that Congress charter a national bank. To be called the Bank of North America, it would be the second bank in the country, following the example of the Bank of Pennsylvania, founded in 1780 with Morris’s involvement.43


As a private institution, the Bank of North America had its own president and board of directors elected by its shareholders, though the government was a shareholder and a customer and Morris kept the right to inspect its books. The bank’s lifeblood was conservative, short-term commercial loans distributed in bank notes that also circulated as media of exchange. Morris demanded that the notes be accepted at par with specie for taxes. In effect, then, Morris wanted private investors to create a new currency whose value would depend on the bank’s credit alone.44


The bank encountered opposition, including from James Madison, a Virginia delegate and otherwise a Morris ally. Previewing his later bruising contest against the Bank of the United States in the 1790s, Madison thought Congress lacked the power to charter a corporation. Despite Madison’s misgivings, Congress gave Morris the go-ahead.45


Morris set up shop in a rented space on Front Street next to his home and began reforming operations. He hired a comptroller, treasurer, register, two auditors, and several clerks, and then convinced Congress to add two more staff, outside of its original approval of the department: a cashier, brought over from Morris’s counting house, to help segregate new obligations from old ones, and a personal assistant, Gouverneur, to help with correspondence and reports.46
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A lean finance office staffed with talented men might save time and money, but its operations paled in comparison with the spending and logistics of the administrative leviathan, the army. At first, the financier vowed to stay away from military supply, but already in May 1781 he was drawn in by one of Washington’s periodic warnings that the army was about to dissolve for want of provisions, this time flour. Morris scrounged up 1,000 barrels and arranged transport, pledging his personal credit to ensure prompt delivery.47


In August, Morris rode up to New York to meet Washington and discuss cost savings. Washington balked. He wanted more resources, not fewer. While the two met, news arrived that the French fleet was available for action in the Chesapeake, and Morris suddenly had a major campaign to help finance, which he did through creatively shifting paper resources under his control, the timely arrival of a French loan in barrels of silver, and the extension of his own credit in the form of so-called “Morris Notes” that he issued through his cashier at the finance office, once more merging public and private functions.48


Morris also introduced an innovation in army supply known as the contract system. Pennsylvania had appointed Morris its agent for supplying its troops, and during the Yorktown campaign, he rejected the cumbersome specific supply system, in which states sent goods directly to their troops, in favor of hiring contractors, via sealed bid, to provide what the army needed. The system promised significantly reduced costs and simpler logistics as private merchants assumed the burden of acquisitions and transportation. After Yorktown, Morris expanded the system. Time, however, would reveal dire shortcomings.49


Amidst starting a department, founding a bank, and supplying an army, Morris also addressed the nation’s debts. For once, there was good news. France was generous bordering on prodigal with its financial assistance to the United States in 1781. It lavished the country with a free gift of 6 million livres and a loan of 4 million livres, and then followed up by effectively cosigning a 10-million-livre loan from Dutch investors. All told, 20 million livres, worth $3.7 million in specie, flowed to the United States. There were strings attached, of course. Most of the money was spent by American agents in Europe, and the loans would need to be repaid, but for the moment, French money was a godsend.50


The condition of the domestic debts, by contrast, was bleak. Basic questions such as how much was owed to whom seemed impossible to answer, since the debts were ensnared in a thicket of poor record keeping, white lies, and depreciated currency, not to mention the complex system of state credits toward requisitions offered under the specific supply system. Nevertheless, Morris pushed to untangle the debt and come up with firm numbers. Otherwise, the states would claim they were unjustly burdened and refuse to pay.51


To facilitate proper accounting and distinguish his department from the earlier Board of Treasury, Morris forswore responsibility for any debts incurred before he took office and stopped making payments. It was not a repudiation, however, and Morris did believe the debts should be paid one day. He planned to roll the old debts into a new category of “public debt” composed of certificates of indebtedness, loan office certificates, and foreign loans that would be Congress’s responsibility to pay, not the states’, though the states would still be responsible for paying, by requisition, the costs of the war incurred via the ordinary spending by Congress on the states’ behalf.52


The problem, of course, was that Congress had no revenue of its own with which to service a public debt. Which brought Morris to the final piece of his program: national taxes. The idea was not invented by Morris. In February 1781, even before the Articles of Confederation were in effect, Congress approved an amendment to create an impost, or tax on imports, of 5 percent with the proceeds dedicated to paying war debts. The revenue generated would be small, but that was OK, because the impost’s purpose was not to liquidate the debt, but to provide security to attract future foreign loans. The impost amendment would take time to wind its way through the states, however. It was an amendment to the Articles, which required the assent of all thirteen states, whose legislatures would want to debate it, slowly, in detail.53


Washington and the department heads helped Robert Morris as much as they could, but as their Monday evening conversations revealed, their powers were limited because each man, including the commander in chief, reported to Congress, and Congress depended on the states. Any serious reform needed to reshape the fundamental relationship between the people and their government, when the proper relationship with their government was what inspired Americans to grab their guns and go shoot redcoats.


In the winter of 1781 to 1782, Congress was still in its first year working under the Articles of Confederation, which, though drafted in 1777, went into effect on March 1, 1781. A dispute between Maryland and its neighbors over western lands delayed ratification. Congress under the Articles was dysfunctional, though mere dysfunction was an improvement on its prior experience: barely controlled chaos guided by no formal plan of government.54


Early in the war, all Congressional responsibilities were administered by committees made up of delegates, which considered a particular issue and reported back to the whole assembly. Then, the full body decided on the committees’ recommendations and passed them along to the appropriate military or civil officials, who figured out implementation.55


Foolishly, the committee system failed to triage the many demands on Congress. Some delegates worked on important matters, such as the military, finance, or drafting the Declaration of Independence, while others devoted their energy to trivial matters, like assessing the supply of ticklenburg linen in Philadelphia. Regardless of the importance of the matter at hand, congressmen loved to wrangle over procedural questions, and debates about process derailed discussions of substance.56


The burden of committee administration weighed heavily on congressmen, especially the dependable, respected ones who found themselves nominated for numerous committees and subcommittees. Workhorses, like John Adams, rose early to attend meetings that started at seven, before heading over to the Pennsylvania Statehouse, where sessions usually began at ten. Congress stayed in session through the late afternoon. After dinner, more meetings, from six to ten. A few hours’ sleep, and they were off to a new day of meetings. The workload was particularly unfair because the manpower available fluctuated. There was no set number of congressmen. The states appointed different sized delegations, and those men appointed by their states didn’t always show up for duty (or at least not on time). Congress sat in session six days a week, with only Sundays off. It was bad for the delegates’ health. William H. Drayton of South Carolina died while attending Congress. Though he suffered from a “putrid fever,” an obituary blamed the “incessant attention to business for near two years’ attendance on Congress, which his constitution, though naturally strong, was unable longer to sustain.” Drayton was thirty-eight.57


Congress revamped itself several times during the war. It tried to throw off some of its burden to administrative bodies of various configurations. But there was no savior to give them rest. The executive departments, launched in 1781, lightened Congress’s load, but at an ideological price. They looked like executive centralization, the aggrandizement of distant authority over free citizens, the bête noire of true patriots. Ultimately, Congress moved slowly because the people wanted it that way. They liked their government lethargic: too sluggish to oppress them.


By the dawn of 1782, Washington, the Morrises, Livingston, and Lincoln rejected the hardline anti-Congress stance of the radical republican elements in the states. From hard experience recruiting the army, feeding the army, and leading the army, they knew a weak central government was the source of many evils, and if the country hoped to survive long enough to enjoy the sweet fruits of independence, then Congress needed more authority. It needed to be something more than a body to intermediate among thirteen wary partners forced together by the need to coordinate resistance to British policy and fight a war. Congress needed to be a true national government.


Their thinking marked a shift in politics after Yorktown, when a movement emerged that envisioned the United States as a strong, united nation with a central government capable of administering the nation’s business rather than relying on the states. Men influenced by this nationalist spirit were later dubbed “nationalists,” with the Morrises, Livingston, Lincoln, some members of Congress, Washington, and other officers counted among their number.58


These nationalists, however, were not a political party in the 1780s, although some nationalists later became the architects of the Constitution, identified as Federalists during the ratification debate, and led the Federalist Party of the 1790s. In the 18th century, “political party” was synonymous with conspiracy against just government, but even adjusting for the difference in meaning, the nationalists were not a party because they lacked the organizational cohesion of a modern political party. Moreover, they would have described themselves not as nationalists but as “Continentalists” or “men who thought continentally,” a subtle indication that shared geography shaped their thinking about the states’ destiny together as much as did abstract ideas about nationhood. The term “nationalist” also has limited utility for explaining the positions of so-called nationalists on particular issues. For example, Benjamin Lincoln opposed Robert Morris’s plans to consolidate the different kinds of war debt into one public debt to be paid with revenue from a new tax. “Nationalist,” then, is shorthand to describe political leaders who, despite their differences over policy details, shared a sense that greater union among the states was vital because otherwise, with the war waning, the most important tie that bound the states together would go slack and endanger the future of every citizen in every state.59
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Washington was as hot for independence as anyone else, but his role as commander in chief made him a confirmed nationalist. Individual states could not meet the army’s needs, and his men suffered. Nevertheless, reforming the nation’s political structure was the responsibility of civilians, and he had an army to lead. As winter thawed and his business concluded, time came to return to the field.60


Washington appeared before Congress at 10:30 a.m. on March 21, when he was again escorted into the chamber for a ritual affirming civilian preeminence. President Hanson had “nothing particular” to tell Washington; Congress, he said, “appointed this audience only to assure you of their esteem and confidence, to recommend you to the protection of Divine Providence, and to wish you happiness and success.” Washington’s reply was even briefer. He thanked Congress and “declared that nothing in his power should be wanting to promote their views and insure success in the operations of the ensuing campaign.” Then, Washington left the room.61


He couldn’t escape Philadelphia that easily. Another round of celebrations ensued, there was one more meeting with Robert Morris, and then, finally, on March 23, Washington left for the Hudson Highlands, escorted out of town by a troop of light horse. A new campaign—possibly—awaited.62
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